97841-7

No. 77785-8-I

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/8/2019

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION LBY SUSAN L. CARLSON OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK

JEFFREY K. MARKOFF and ALICIA MARKOFF, individually and as a married couple; EDWARD C. NEWELL and TROY-LYNN NEWELL, individually and as a married couple; CHARLES MEYER and JULIE MEYER, individually and as a married couple; JOEY P. HAUGEN and MYUNG K. HAUGEN, individually and as a married couple; NATHAN A. BUCK, individually; MICHAEL S. CAMLIN and CANDACE M. CAMLIN, individually and as a married couple; RICHARD MARTELL-SCOTT, individually; and STEVE ROBERTS, indivdually,

Petitioners,

VS.

I.		IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS
II.		THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS 1
III.		ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
	A.	Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2) because the Court of Appeals' holding that the PRD bars injury claims arising from willfully, wantonly, or recklessly caused hazards conflicts with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals limiting the PRD to injuries arising from negligence and rejecting its application to injuries arising from more culpable misconduct?
	В.	Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because numerous states have refused to extend the PRD beyond negligently caused hazards or have abandoned the PRD entirely since Washington adopted it 49 years ago, and this Court already has accepted review of a case raising the same issue?
	C.	Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2), and (b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' holding that the PRD's exception for "hidden, unknown, and ultrahazardous" dangers does not apply to risks that are "inherent" in the type of hazard to which professional rescuers are responding and the Court of Appeals could envision unpled hypothetical facts under which the exception could apply completely subsume the exception, conflicts with well-settled CR 12(b)(6) standards, and this Court has little opportunity to define or apply the exception?
	D.	Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' holding that RCW 80.04.440 does not create an independent cause of action against a "public utility company" and does not apply to contractors conflicts with express statements by this Court recognizing such a cause of action and the scope of liability under the statute is substantially important to the public given the hazardous, potentially devastating activities in which such companies engage?
IV.		STATEMENT OF THE CASE
	A.	Factual Allegations

В	3.	Procedural History5
C	7.	This Court's Acceptance of Review in Lyon
V.		ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED
A	Λ.	Review is required under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2) because the Court of Appeals' holding that the PRD extends to injuries caused by willfully, wantonly, or recklessly created hazards conflicts with Washington appellate precedent limiting the PRD to negligently created hazards and rejecting its application to more culpable misconduct.
В	3.	Review of the Court of Appeals' opinion is required under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because this Court already has accepted review of the issue of whether the PRD extends beyond negligently created hazards when numerous other states have refused to extend the PRD or have abandoned it entirely
C	7.	Review of the Court of Appeals' holding that the PRD's "hidden, unknown, and extrahazardous" exception excludes risks "inherent" in the "type" of hazard warranting rescue and that the firefighters failed to plead hypothetical facts under which the Court of Appeals reasoned the exception could apply is necessary under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2), and (b)(4)
Ε).	Review of the Court of Appeals' holdings that RCW 80.04.440 does not create an independent cause of action and does not apply to contractors is required under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(4)
VI.		CONCLUSION

CASES

Alvarado v. United States, 798 F. Supp. 84, 87 (D.P.R. 1992)
Baldonado v. El Paso Nautral Gas Co., 143 N.M. 297, 176 P.3d 286 (Ct. App. 2006)
Ballou v. Nelson, 67 Wn. App. 67, 834 P.2d 97 (1992)7, 8, 9, 10, 11
Bates v. McKeon, 650 F. Supp. 476, 480 (D.Conn.1986)
<i>Beaupre v. Pierce Cty.</i> , 161 Wn.2d 568, n.1, 166 P.3d 712 (2007)
Benefiel v. Walker & Nationwide Ins. Co., 25 Va. Cir. 130, 131-32 (1991)
Black Indus., Inc. v. Emco Helicopters, Inc., 19 Wn. App. 697, 577 P.2d 610 (1978)
Carpenter v. O'Day, 562 A.2d 601-02 (Del. Super. Ct. 1988)
Carson v. Headrick, 900 S.W.2d 685, 690–91 (Tenn.1995)
Chicago Title Ins. Co. v. Washington State Office of Ins. Com'r, 178 Wn.2d 120, 309 P.3d 372 (2013)
Chinigo v. Geismar Marine, Inc., 512 So. 2d 487, 492 (La. Ct. App.) (1987)14, 17
<i>Christensen v. Murphy</i> , 296 Or. 610, 678 P.2d 1210 (1984)
<i>Diaz v. Salazar</i> , 924 F. Supp. 1088, 1100 (D.N.M. 1996)
Flaherty v. Walgreen E. Co., 18 Mass. L. Rep. 661, 2005 Mass. Super. LEXIS 18, *6 n.3 (2005)
Fox v.Hawkins, 594 N.E.2d 493, 498 (Ind. Ct. App.1992)
Gibb v. Stetson, 199 Cal. App. 3d 1008, 245 Cal. Rptr. 283 (1988)
Hoffer v. State, 110 Wash. 2d 415, 755 P.2d 785 (1988)
Jackson v. Velveray Corp., 82 N.J. Super. 469, 198 A.2d 115 (1964)
Juhl v. Airington, 936 S.W.2d 640, 648 (Tex.1996)

Krauth v. Geller, 31 N.J. 270, 157 A.2d 129 (1960)
Lambert v.Schaefer, 839 S.W.2d 27, 29 (Mo. Ct. App. 1992)
Loiland v. State, 1 Wn. App. 2d 861, 407 P.3d 377 (2017)
<i>M.H. v. Corp. of Catholic Archbishop of Seattle</i> , 162 Wn. App. 183, 252 P.3d 914 (2011)
<i>Maltman v. Sauer</i> , 84 Wn.2d 975, 530 P.2d 254 (1975)
<i>Markoff v. Puget Sound Energy, Inc.</i> , Wn. App 447 P.3d 585 (2019) 1, 2, 9, 10, 16
<i>McCoy v. Am. Suzuki Motor Corp.</i> , 136 Wn.2d 350, 961 P.2d 952 (1998)
Migdal v.Stamp, 132 N.H. 171, 564 A.2d 826, 828 (1989)
Minnich v. Med-Waste, Inc., 349 S.C. 567, 564 S.E.2d 98 (2002)
New Meadows Holding Co. by Raugust v. Wash. Water Power Co., 102 Wn.2d 495, 687 P.2d 212 (1984)
Nowicki v. Pigue, 2013 Ark. 499, 430 S.W.3d 765, 769 (2013)
Phalen v. Kane, 192 A.D.2d 186, 600 N.Y.S.2d 988, 989 (4th Dep't 1993) 14
Rennenger v. Pacesetter Co., 558 N.W.2d 419, 421 (Iowa 1997)
Rishel v. E. Airlines, Inc., 466 So, 2d 1136, 1138 (Fla. Ct. App. 1985)
Ruiz v. Mero, 189 N.J. 525, 917 A.2d 239 (2007)
Sayes v. Pilgrim Manor Nursing Home, Inc., 536 So. 2d 705, (La. Ct. App. 1988)
State Farm Mut.Auto. Ins. Co. v. Hill, 139 Md. App. 308, 775 A.2d 476, 482 (2001)