FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/9/2019 2:33 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97841-7

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JEFFREY K. MARKOFF and ALICIA MARKOFF, individually and as a married couple; EDWARD C. NEWELL and TROY-LYNN NEWELL, individually and as a married couple; CHARLES MEYER and JULIE MEYER, individually and as a married couple; JOEY P. HAUGEN and MYUNG K. HAUGEN, individually and as a married couple; NATHAN A. BUCK, individually; MICHAEL S. CAMLIN and CANDACE M. CAMLIN, individually and as a married couple; RICHARD MARTELL-SCOTT, individually; and STEVE ROBERTS, individually,

Appellants,

v.

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

- A. The Court of Appeals Properly Applied Washington's Professional Rescuer Doctrine by Refusing to Create New Exceptions to Well-Established Precedent.
  - 1. The Court of Appeals Properly Refused to Find a *Mens Rea* Exception.

As early as their FAC, Petitioners recognized that, for their claims for damages to survive the professional rescuer doctrine ("PRD"), a court would have to create a *mens rea* exception that has not previously been recognized.<sup>27</sup> Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals refused to do so, with the latter ruling: "The intent of the person whose actions caused the need for rescue has never been a relevant inquiry in determining whether a professional rescuer assumed a risk."<sup>28</sup>

a. The Antecedent Rescue Doctrine Applies to Tortfeasors in General, and Not Just in the Context of Negligence.

Petitioners attempt to create the impression that Washington courts already have limited the application of the PRD to negligent conduct.<sup>29</sup> However, Petitioners make the same mistake that others have made—and Washington courts have corrected—related to the antecedent rescue doctrine. Namely, the rescue doctrine is not limited to instances of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> CP 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Slip Op. 13-14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Pet. 6-11.

negligence, even though Washington courts routinely have applied the doctrine to instances of negligence. Washington Courts have previously held (and clarified):

[Defendant's] argument that the rescue doctrine applies only in negligence cases is not persuasive. While many of the cases, like French, describe the doctrine in terms of negligence concepts, in McCoy, the court applied the doctrine to tortfeasors in general. McCoy was a products liability case and the defendant was subject to strict liability and was not a negligent tortfeasor.<sup>30</sup>

The court in  $Uribe^{31}$  recognized that the rescue doctrine applied in the presence of conduct other than mere negligence—it applied to "tortfeasors in general." This is consistent with what the court understood as the two fundamental principles at issue with the rescue doctrine: foreseeability and assumption of the risk.<sup>33</sup>

#### h. The PRD Extends to Conduct Exceeding Negligence.

Similar to the rescue doctrine, Washington courts have made it clear the PRD applies to conduct beyond negligence. This is understood by first noting that the PRD is an exception to the rescue doctrine which is itself an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> French v. Uribe, 132 Wn. App. 1, 14-15, 130 P.3d 370 (2006) (emphasis added). See also McCoy v. Am. Suzuki Motor Corp., 136 Wn.2d 350, 961 P.2d 952 (1998).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Respondents use the petitioner-defendant's name in French v. Uribe in order to avoid confusion with French v. Chase, 48 Wn.2d 825, 297 P.2d 235 (1956).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> *Id.* at 14-15 (quoting *French*, 48 Wn.2d at 830).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> *Id.* at 15.

exception to the assumption of the risk defense, and thus focuses on the same two principles noted above: foreseeability and the risks assumed.

In *Maltman*, Washington's seminal case on the PRD, the Court was not concerned with the culpability of the acts involved, but rather the hazard confronted. *Maltman* recognized that firemen encounter fires, however caused, and thus assume the risks of the hazards reasonably expected to exist in the situation.<sup>34</sup> From its inception, the focus of Washington's PRD was not on the conduct causing the encountered risk, but the foreseeability of the risk encountered. That is why *Maltman*'s discussion of the PRD focuses on the risk assumed—a helicopter crash—and not the underlying conduct or potential cause(s) of the crash.

Similarly, in *Black Indus. v. Emco Helicopters*, the court focused its attention on the risk assumed, and not the underlying conduct.<sup>35</sup> After discussing the multiple possibilities that could have caused the crash—pilot error, mechanical failure, inexperience of personnel—the Court found:

A danger unique to helicopter rescues is the possibility of a mechanical malfunction in the airplane or pilot error, either of which could cause a crash. Therefore, a helicopter crew is specially trained to meet these known hazards. They are hazards inherently within the ambit of those dangers unique to and generally associated with this particular rescue operation.<sup>36</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> 84 Wn.2d at 978.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> 19 Wn. App. 697, 577 P.2d 610 (1978).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> *Id.* at 699 (quoting *Maltman*, 84 Wn.2d at 979).

Again, the focus was on the hazard assumed, not the underlying conduct.

Other Washington cases on the PRD maintain this focus. Indeed, there is no Washington case holding that the underlying conduct causing the need for the rescuer's presence at the scene is material to the PRD analysis.

In *Beaupre v. Pierce County*, the only other treatment of the PRD by the Washington Supreme Court outside *Maltman*, the Court discussed its prior ruling in *Maltman*: "We have previously discussed professional rescue doctrine in terms of assumption of risk...the professional rescue doctrine is essentially a type of implied primary assumption of risk." Thus, when this Court has commented on the PRD, the dispositive issue is not the underlying conduct creating the rescue but instead, the foreseeability of the risks assumed by the professional rescuer:

The professional rescue doctrine bars professional rescuers from recovering under the rescue doctrine because a professional rescuer assumes certain hazards "not assumed by a voluntary rescuer." Under the professional rescue doctrine, a professional rescuer may not recover for injuries stemming from hazards "inherently within the ambit of those dangers which are unique to and generally associated with the particular rescue activity."<sup>38</sup>

Petitioners rely on *Ballou v. Nelson* and its reference to "negligence" in hopes of creating an exception to the PRD such that the doctrine applies only to rescues involving negligence.<sup>39</sup> Petitioners misunderstand the case.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> 161 Wn.2d 568, 577, 166 P.3d 712 (2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> *Id.* at 572 (citations omitted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> 67 Wn. App. 67, 834 P.2d 97 (1992).

In *Ballou*, police officers responded to a call of drunk patrons causing a disturbance at a hotel.<sup>40</sup> The officers arrived and escorted one of the defendants back to his room "peacefully without placing them under arrest or pressing any charges."<sup>41</sup> This peaceful interaction continued as the officers met one of the defendants in the hotel lobby, escorted him into the elevator, and up the elevator to the fourth floor where they encountered the second defendant.<sup>42</sup> It was only at this point that the two defendants committed a criminal assault.<sup>43</sup>

Ballou ruled not only that there was "no negligence on the part of the defendants" leading to the officers' injuries, but also that the officers had "no reasonably prudent assessment of imminent peril. Indeed, there was not even a rescue in which reasonable care had to be taken." The initial inquiry is first whether there was a rescue. In Ballou the answer was "no." As such, Ballou is inapplicable to this case. When the PRD applies, the relevant inquiry is the hazard (not the conduct causing the hazard) and whether the hazard was known:

The professional rescuer doctrine imposes a restriction on the rescue doctrine by denying its benefits to professional rescuers who are paid to assume risks inherent in their work. *Maltman v. Sauer, supra* denied recovery to professional rescuers *where the hazard* 

<sup>40</sup> *Id.* at 68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> *Id*. at 69.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> *Id.* at 69, 73.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> *Id*.

which caused the injury was within the ambit of those dangers which are unique to and generally associated with the particular rescue effort.<sup>45</sup>

Ballou answers that the hazard (a subsequent and independent act occurring only after the officers arrived to the scene) was not a risk assumed by the officers in relation to a rescue.<sup>46</sup> This is distinct from the allegations made by Petitioners in this case: firefighters who responded to a report of a natural gas leak and faced the known risk that natural gas could explode.

Petitioners' argument that Washington courts have restricted application of the PRD to negligence also fails here because Washington courts, even in *Ballou*, readily accept that the PRD precludes recovery even when the conduct causing the need for the professional rescuer's presence rises to the level of willfulness. In *Ward v. Torjussen* (which also focuses on the hazard, not underlying conduct), the court stated that, if officers were injured when responding to the acts of a criminal prowler (intentional conduct), that prowler could be relieved of liability under the PRD.<sup>47</sup> *Ballou* confirmed the ruling in *Ward*.<sup>48</sup>

In short, while some courts have used the word "negligence" to describe conduct covered by the PRD, they have also made clear that the

<sup>46</sup> *Id.* at 71. This emphasis on the unrelated, post-arrival criminal conduct further distinguishes *Ballou* from the instant case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> *Id.* at 70 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> 52 Wn. App. 280, 287-88, 758 P.2d 1012 (1988).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> *Ballou*, 67 Wn. App. at 72-73.

application of the PRD is not tied exclusively to negligence. *Ballou* stated that the PRD could prevent firefighters from recovering for injuries sustained in a "negligently *or recklessly* caused fire." *Ward* stated that, "The professional rescuer doctrine . . . prohibits a fireman . . . from recovering damages for injuries sustained when responding in an official capacity from the one whose negligence *or conduct* brought the injured official to the scene." As stated in *Ward* and quoted in both *Beaupre* and *Loiland*, "The [professional rescuer] doctrine 'relieves the perpetrator of the *act* that caused the rescuer to be at the scene."

As demonstrated above, Petitioners' attempts to demonstrate a conflict between the decision of the Court of Appeals and previous decisions of Washington courts regarding the PRD collapse under scrutiny, and thus no basis for review exists under RAPs 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

c. Limiting the PRD to Only Negligence Cases Is Inconsistent with the Fundamental Principles of the Doctrine Recognized by Washington Courts.

As discussed above, Washington courts consistently have held the PRD extends to conduct exceeding negligence. This is not only consistent with the application of the antecedent rescue doctrine to "tortfeasors in

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> *Id.* at 71 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> 52 Wn. App. at 286 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> *Loiland v. State*, 1 Wn. App.2d 861, 866, 407 P.3d 377 (2017) (emphasis added) (quoting *Beaupre*, 161 Wn.2d at 573; *Ward*, 52 Wn. App. at 287)).

general (i.e. *Uribe*)," it is consistent with both the rescue doctrine's and the PRD's fundamental bases—foreseeability and assumption of the risk.

"Those dangers which are inherent in professional rescue activity, and therefore foreseeable, are willingly submitted to by the professional rescuer when he accepts the position and the remuneration inextricably connected therewith." The *mens rea* behind the conduct bringing the professional rescuer to the scene does not change the analyses of either the foreseeability of the danger or the professional rescuer's assumption of the risk. For instance, when firefighters respond to a confirmed natural gas leak, the risk of explosion is manifest regardless of whether the line was broken intentionally, recklessly or negligently; the dangers of a building fire are the same whether caused by accident or arson. Professional firefighters assume these risks and other dangers, however caused, and accept compensation to do so.

The two recognized exceptions turn on foreseeability and assumption of the risk. The exception for independent and intervening conduct recognizes that such conduct is not foreseeable and therefore not assumed by the professional rescuer; in such case, recovery is not barred by the PRD.<sup>53</sup> Similarly, when a professional rescuer is injured by a hidden or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Maltman, 84 Wn.2d at 978.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> *Beaupre*, 161 Wn.2d at 575.

unknown hazard not inherently associated with the particular rescue activity, the danger is not foreseen and not assumed, and therefore the PRD does not bar recovery.<sup>54</sup> These two exceptions are consistent with the principles of the PRD and are sufficient to provide the professional rescuer with recovery in such circumstances. A mens rea exception need not be created.

2. The Court of Appeals Properly Followed Washington **Precedent in Ruling That Petitioners Could Not Recover** for Confronting a Risk Inherent to the Rescue Activity.

Petitioners take issue with the Court of Appeals' holding:

All of the dangers created by the past negligence of PSE and its contractors, created by those who misused the narrow space between the buildings, and of the gas leaking into an underground space, were part of the same hazard that the firefighters were called to the scene to address: a gas leak. Injury from a fire or explosion is a risk inherent in addressing a natural gas leak, given that natural gas is known to be volatile and highly explosive.<sup>55</sup>

This holding is consistent with Washington precedent. As the hidden danger exception was stated in *Maltman* (and affirmed in *Loiland*), "It does not follow that a fireman must be deemed as a matter of law to have voluntarily assumed all hidden, unknown, and extrahazardous dangers which in the existing conditions would not be reasonably anticipated or foreseen."56 The trial court and Court of Appeals properly ruled a gas

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> *Loiland*, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 866.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Slip Op. at 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> *Maltman*, 84 Wn.2d at 978; *Loiland*, 1 Wn.2d at 866 (emphasis added).

explosion *is* inherently associated with responding to a gas leak.<sup>57</sup> Accordingly, there is no basis to review the Court of Appeal's decision under RAPs 13(b)(1) or (2) concerning its ruling on the hidden danger exception to the PRD.

- B. The Court of Appeals' Application of RCW 80.04.440 Is Consistent with Existing Washington Appellate Decisions.
  - 1. Petitioners Miscite Two Supreme Court Cases and Fail to Address Two Others Upon Which the Court of Appeals Relied.

Following established precedent and the plain language of the statute, the Court of Appeals held RCW 80.04.440 does not create an independent cause of action.<sup>58</sup> Petitioners claim that holding conflicts with this Court's precedent and presents an issue of public interest.<sup>59</sup> Petitioners' RAP 13.4(b)(1) argument is based on an erroneous recitation of this Court's opinions in *Zamora v. Mobil Corp.*<sup>60</sup> and *Tanner Elec. Co-op v. Puget Sound Power & Light Co.*<sup>61</sup>, and ignores the cases and analysis relied upon

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> New Meadows Holding Co. by Raugust v. Wash. Water Power Co., 102 Wn.2d 495, 501, 687 P.2d 212 (1984).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Slip Op. 16 (providing following string cite: "*Fisk v. City of Kirkland*,164 Wn.2d 891, 896, 194 P.3d 984 (2008) (cause of action pursuant to RCW 80.04.440 not viable in the absence of underlying duty on part of utility); *Citoli v. City of Seattle*, 115 Wn. App. 459, 479-80, 61 P.3d 1165 (2002) (utility's alleged violation of regulation requiring minimization of service interruptions did not support RCW 80.04.440 claim due to city ordinance limiting utility's liability)").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Pet. 18 (citing RAP 13.4(b)(1) & 13.4(b)(4)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> 104 Wn.2d 199, 704 P.2d 584 (1985).

<sup>61 128</sup> Wn.2d 656, 911 P.2d 1301 (1995).

by the Court of Appeals. Petitioners offer no cognizant argument in support of their RAP 13.4(b)(4) claim.

In both *Zamora* and *Tanner*, the alleged causes of action were "predicated upon" claims under the Washington Administrative Code and Consumer Protection Act.<sup>62</sup> In *Zamora*, the plaintiffs sued after a propane explosion in their home.<sup>63</sup> This Court held the RCW 80.04.440 claim was properly dismissed on summary judgment because the plaintiffs could not show a violation of law or safety regulation.<sup>64</sup> This Court stated, "liability under this law [RCW 80.04.440] is *predicated* upon a finding of a violation of law or safety regulation," and the plaintiffs could not establish an issue of material fact to support the alleged WAC violation.<sup>65</sup>

Similarly, in *Tanner*, the plaintiff argued the exemption of utility companies from liability under Washington's Consumer Protection Act was unfair.<sup>66</sup> This Court rejected the argument, noting "remedies for egregious conduct on the part of public utilities remain," citing RCW 80.04.440.<sup>67</sup> As this Court said, "[t]his statute allows a private cause of action for anyone

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Zamora, 104 Wn.2d at 209 (emphasis in original); Tanner, 128 Wn.2d at 683.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> 104 Wn.2d at 201.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> *Id.* at 209.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> *Id.* (emphasis in original).

<sup>66 128</sup> Wn.2d at 683.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> *Id.* at 683-84.

affected by a utility's violation of state law or commission order."68 But there must first be a "violation of state law or commission order." 69

The Court of Appeals' ruling in this case follows this Court's precedent, citing pertinent language from Zamora and subsequent consistent holdings from this Court and the Court of Appeals, like Fisk v. City of Kirkland and Citoli v. City of Seattle, 70 both conspicuously absent from Petitioners' petition—for good reason. Fisk held that nothing in the statute or precedent supported a claim that RCW 80.04.440 created an independent duty; Citoli notes RCW 80.04.440 operates to make a utility "liable for its acts and omissions in violation of law." 71 Petitioners' claim for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) lacks merit and should be rejected.

Finally, Petitioners' claim review of the RCW 80.04.440 holding is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) but offer no associated argument.<sup>72</sup> This Court need not consider that claim further.<sup>73</sup>

#### 2. Petitioners Mischaracterize Pilchuck and Michels as **Public Utility Providers.**

Petitioners strain language and logic in arguing that the Court of Appeals erred holding that Pilchuck and its parent company, Michels, could

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> *Id.* at 684.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Fisk, 164 Wn.2d at 896; Citoli, 115 Wn. App. at 479-80.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Fisk, 164 Wn.2d at 896-97; Citoli, 115 Wn. App. at 478.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Pet. 18-20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> RAP 10.3(a)(6); Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992).

not be held liable under the utility statute because they were maintenance contractors and not utility providers. Petitioners' argument contradicts the allegations of their own complaint.

Petitioners contend that because the definition of a "public service company" includes every "gas company," including "every corporation ... owning, controlling, operating or managing ... any gas plant ...," and "all ... fixtures and personal property ... used or to be used with the transmission, distribution, sale or furnishing of natural gas," the gas pipeline at issue must be considered a "gas plant" and Pilchuck considered a "public service company." Petitioners' mischaracterization is unsupported and does not create an inference in favor of Petitioners.

First, Petitioners concede in their FAC that Pilchuck was not a public service company, but rather a "general contracting business" that conducted "pipeline maintenance" in Washington and that Michels was its parent company.<sup>75</sup>

Second, even if Pilchuck could conceivably be considered a "gas company" within the definition of "public service company," the statute further defines "gas company" as "every corporation ... owning, controlling, operating or managing any gas plant." The definition does not

CF 17

<sup>74</sup> RCW 80.04.010(23).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> CP 17.

include, and makes no suggestion of including, private contractors performing maintenance work on behalf of a gas company.

Third, even if Pilchuck were construed as "controlling, operating or managing a gas plant," by maintaining a "fixture" of the pipeline, Pilchuck did so only as a contractor hired by and on behalf of PSE. Accordingly, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

#### V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondents respectfully request that this Court deny the Petition for Review.